IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 17 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

---

Avery B. Wilkerson Jr., Chair, Commissioner  
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner  
R. Michael Campbell, Commissioner

---

SCWCC File No. 1102937  
S.C. Court of Appeals Case No. 2019-001141

---

Barry Adickes, Claimant,

Respondent,

v.

Philips Healthcare, Employer, and Fidelity and  
Guarantee Insurance Company, Carrier,

Appellants.

---

**APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

Brooke A. Payne  
South Carolina Bar No.: 81085  
BPayne@PayneLG.com  
Ryan D. Oxford  
South Carolina Bar No.: 101326

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL:**

1. Did the Commission Err in its Calculation of Adickes' Permanent Wage Loss Award?
2. Did the Commission err in holding that Appellants were under an obligation to continue payment of weekly wage loss benefits to Adickes after this Court issued Op. No. 2018-UP-027?
3. Did the Commission err in finding that Appellants' delay in authorization of a medication constituted willful disobedience of an Order, subjecting Appellants to fines and penalties for same?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE:**

This case was originally before this Court in 2016 - 2018, pursuant to Adickes' request for a permanent wage loss award. (R. 70). In 2015 – 2016, the ALJ and Appellate Division awarded Adickes a lump sum award of 340 weeks of permanent partial disability benefits under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20. (R. pp. 1-18, 19-34). Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal of the aforementioned Appellate Division Order to this Court on March 17, 2016 and properly commenced weekly benefits pursuant to the Appellate Order. (R. pp. 147-148). Appellants argued that the Appellate Division erred in not limiting the wage loss award to 340 weeks from the date of accident, pursuant to the language of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20. (Id.). Following oral arguments before this Court, an unpublished Opinion was issued on January 17, 2018, Op. No. 2018-UP-027. (R. pp. 35-39).

This Court agreed with Appellants argument and found that the Appellate Panel erred in extending the timeframe and award for PPD benefits in contravention of the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20 and the legislative intent for compensation. (R. pp. 37-39). As such, in Op. No. 2018-UP-027, this Court reversed the Appellate Division's award of 340 weeks of permanent benefits, holding that the "plain language of the statute limits PPD benefits to 340 weeks from the

date of injury, contrary to the Appellate Panel's interpretation and award. This statute explicitly mandates that in 'no case' will PPD benefits be available to a claimant beyond the term of 340 weeks 'from the date of injury.'" (R. p. 38). This Court went on to note that the applicable portion of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20 reads "[I]n no case shall the period covered by such compensation be greater than three hundred forty weeks from the date of injury. We find this to be a limiting clause that restricts the time frame and amount of coverage and should be strictly interpreted." (Id.). Op. No. 2018-UP-027 reversed the Appellate Panel's award of 340 weeks' compensation commencing January 17, 2014 and remanded to the Workers' Compensation Commission for a new calculation of benefits consistent with the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20. (R. p. 39).

This Court specifically noted that the case was being remanded "to the Appellate Panel for a new calculation" of Adickes' wage loss award; rather, following the remand, this case was heard before two separate Commissioners and oral arguments took place before two separate Appellate Panels. The procedural history following this Court's 2018 Order was as follows:

REMAND PROCEEDINGS:

The Full Commission issued a Remittitur Routing Sheet on July 16, 2018, assigning the case to a Single Commissioner. (R. p. 40). Following this, the case was initially set before Commissioner McCaskill and then Commissioner Barden. During this time, the undersigned asked the Commission on multiple occasions why the calculation wasn't being performed by the Appellate Division. (R. pp. 798-805). The Commission informed that parties that the Appellate panel felt the Single Commissioner that heard should perform the calculation; however, the Commission eventually placed the case on Commissioner Barden's calendar because "the policy is to set the matter before the jurisdictional Commissioner, not the hearing Commissioner." (R. pp.

798, 802). The undersigned also asked the Commission on numerous occasions why a hearing was necessary, and was only provided with a response that Commissioner Barden wanted one. (R. pp. 798-805).

A hearing was held before Commissioner Susan Barden on October 19, 2018, at which time she allowed the parties to put their respective positions on the record, pursuant to the request by Adickes' counsel. (R. p. 630). Commissioner Barden issued an Order on January 17, 2019<sup>1</sup>, wherein she held that that this Court in Op. No. 2018-UP-027 did not reverse the date that the initial Single Commissioner had ordered wage loss benefits to begin, so she held that Adickes' wage loss award should commence as of January 17, 2014, the date of his termination, and should extend **beyond** 340 weeks from his date of injury. (R. pp. 49-50). Commissioner Barden disagreed with Appellants' contention that permanent wage loss awards begin as of the date of MMI, because "the issue of MMI is immaterial in a wage loss claim," since S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20 does not distinguish between temporary and permanent benefits. (R. pp. 46, 49). Lastly, Commissioner Barden held that the final sentence of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20 operates to "prolong" a PPD award beyond the 340 week limitation, since the "plain reading" of the language does not entitle the Employer to a credit of TTD paid. (R. p. 48). As such, she held that Adickes was entitled to an additional 7 weeks and 5 days of PPD benefits beyond the 340 week limitation. (R. p. 50).

Appellants appealed Commissioner Barden's Order to the Appellate Division, asserting that her calculation of Adickes' permanent wage loss award was in contravention of the guiding statutory authority and case law, as well as this Court's decision in Op. No. 2018-UP-027. (R. pp. 230-232). Adickes also appealed Commissioner Barden's Order, arguing that she erred in (1) failing to rule that limiting the award on both the front and back ends would be violative of due

---

<sup>1</sup> This Order was prepared by Adickes' Counsel. Commissioner Barden executed same without making any changes to the proposed Order.

process, and (2) failing to rule that Appellants are precluded from arguing that wage loss benefits may not be ordered before MMI as the issue was not properly preserved before the Court of Appeals. (R. pp. 233-234).

Oral Arguments were held before the Appellate Panel on April 30, 2019. (R. p. 754). Contrary to the explicit remand language in Op. No. 2018-UP-027, Adickes argued that the date of commencement of his wage loss award was not reversed. (R. p. 765, lines 19-24). He further argued that “MMI is irrelevant,” and “the only thing that MMI signifies is in a wage loss claim is what further medical care ... is it wide open, or is there going to be some limitation on medical care? That’s what the MMI thing matters about.” (R. p. 768, lines 5-11). Adickes also argued that the last line of the statute provided additional weeks of benefits beyond the 340-week limitation. (R. p. 772, lines 18-25).

The Appellate Panel confirmed Commissioner Barden’s Order in full<sup>2</sup>, holding that she “followed the directions from the Court of Appeals on remand, and issued an Order that follows the plain reading of Section 42-9-20 and supporting case law.” (R. pp. 62-63). The Appellate Panel acknowledged that all of the weeks owed to Adickes had accrued, and ordered Appellants to pay interest of 7.5% on benefits owed between the dates of January 17, 2014 and when Appellants commenced benefits following the 2016 Appellate Panel decision. (R. p. 64).

As months continued to pass while the parties awaited a decision from the Appellate Division, Appellants became concerned about not being able to recoup an overpayment on Adickes’ permanent benefits. Thus, the decision was made to suspend Adickes’ weekly benefits on February 5, 2019, as Appellants had paid beyond the proper calculation of his permanent wage

---

<sup>2</sup> The Appellate Panel executed an Order fully prepared by Adickes’ counsel, without making any changes to same.

loss award. On February 6, 2019, Appellants suspended payments of weekly wage loss benefits to Adickes.

THIRD SINGLE COMMISSIONER HEARING:

While the Order on remand was pending before the Appellate Panel, Adickes requested a hearing seeking recommencement of his weekly permanent wage loss benefits, arguing that Appellants were still under an Order to continue payment of weekly permanent benefits. (R. p. 268). Adickes also sought penalties associated with delays in authorizations of his prescriptions, alleging that Appellants did so willfully. (Id.).

A hearing was held before Commissioner Melody James on April 19, 2019. (R. p. 668). Appellants argued the issue of payments of his permanency award was improper to be heard as it was pending before the Appellate Division. (R. p. 269; R. p. 671, lines 10-17). Appellants further argued that there was no longer an obligation to continue payment of weekly permanent wage loss benefits pursuant to Op. No. 2018-UP-027, as 340 weeks from the date of injury ended on September 26, 2017. (R. pp. 269-272; R. p. 674, line 18; R. p. 675, line 10). Finally, Appellants asserted that the delays in providing prescription authorizations was an unfortunate mistake, which did not rise to the level of willful disobedience of a prior Order of the Commission. (R. pp. 272-273; R. p. 674, lines 1-17).

Commissioner James issued an Order on June 19, 2019<sup>3</sup>, holding that Appellants had illegally terminated his benefits because there was no order allowing Appellants to stop payment of benefits commenced pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-60. (R. pp. 56-58). She ordered recommencement and subjected Appellants to a 10% penalty on all unpaid weekly benefits. (R. pp. 57-58). Commissioner James also held that Appellants had willfully disobeyed a prior Order

---

<sup>3</sup> This Order was prepared by Adickes' Counsel. Commissioner James executed same without making any changes to the proposed Order.

for a period of 27 days, and were subject to fines of \$200.00/day pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-3-175. (Id.).

Appellants appealed Commissioner James' Order to the Appellate Division, Following oral arguments, the Appellate Division upheld Commissioner James' Order in its entirety, yet increased the daily fine imposed to \$500.00/day<sup>4</sup>. (R. pp. 65-72).

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS:**

This case has a complicated procedural history dating back to 2014. Given the current posture of this case, a full recitation of the facts is unnecessary. Appellants rely on and fully incorporate herein the Summary of Evidence detailed in Appellant's Final Brief to this Court filed in COA case No. 2016-000514, but point to the below facts relevant to this appeal:

Dr. Barron performed an IME on the Claimant on December 12, 2012, at which time he opined that "unfortunately, [Adickes] has not responded to surgical treatment on his right shoulder." (R. pp. 8, 493-495). Dr. Barron did not place Adickes at MMI when he performed the IME in 2012; rather, he specifically noted that Adickes had not been rated in regard to his right shoulder and recommended that he undergo a right shoulder arthrogram. (R. p. 495).

Adickes did not seek any additional treatment for his right shoulder after his IME with Dr. Barron. Prior to the hearing before Commissioner McCaskill, the Appellants scheduled a "rate and release" appointment with Dr. Rentz, Adickes' authorized physician for his right shoulder. (R. pp. 581-584). The Claimant was evaluated by Dr. Rentz on September 14, 2014, at which time he reported continued pain in his right shoulder, pain with overhead activities and some popping with

---

<sup>4</sup> This Order was prepared by Adickes' Counsel. The Appellate Division executed same, the only change being the increased amount of daily fines assessed against Appellants.

motion. (R. p. 583). Rather than providing a rating, Dr. Rentz recommended that Adickes undergo a right shoulder MRI scan and to return following same. (Id.).

Adickes underwent a right shoulder MRI scan on October 10, 2014. (R. p. 579). Rather than returning to Dr. Rentz for review, Adickes provided the MRI scan to his IME physician, Dr. Barron. After review of same, Dr. Barron completed a questionnaire wherein he assigned a 15% rating to Adickes' right shoulder. (R. p. 496). Specifically, Dr. Barron opined that Adickes would "most probably eventually require additional surgery to the right shoulder based on the MRI findings as well as the ongoing symptoms." (Id.). It was this questionnaire response, dated January 14, 2015, that persuaded Commissioner McCaskill that Adickes was at MMI for all of his injuries:

3. It is the defendants' position that this claim is not ripe for a determination of permanency. They contend that the Claimant is not at MMI for his shoulder.
4. ***The Claimant contends that the questionnaire from Dr. Jerry L. Barron provides a determination of MMI.***
5. I have reviewed the questionnaire of Dr. Barron and ***must agree with Claimant's counsel as to a determination of MMI.***
6. Dr. Barron opines to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the Claimant, "... has sustained a permanent impairment of 15% to the right shoulder and 0% to the left shoulder."
7. While ratings are necessary to determine disability to the shoulders, if any, the language is also determinative as to MMI. Assigning "permanent impairment" to the shoulders attests to Dr. Barron's opinion that the shoulders are not going to get any better than they are now. In other words, they are in a condition of "permanent" - plain meaning of the word - impairment. ***Given that fact, I find that the Claimant has reached maximum medical improvement for the shoulders.***

(R. p. 11, *emphasis added*)

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW:**

Judicial review of a Workers' Compensation Appellate Panel's Decision is governed by the substantial evidence rule of the Administrative Procedures Act. Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130,

276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). Pursuant to the APA, the Court of Appeals' review in a workers' compensation proceeding is limited to deciding whether the decision of the Appellate Panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission is unsupported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law. Hall v. Desert Aire, Inc., 376 S.C. 338, 656 S.E.2d 753 (Ct. App. 2007).

For purposes of judicial review of the Appellate Panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission, "substantial evidence" is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the Appellate Panel reached in order to justify its action. Pratt v. Morris Roofing, Inc., 357 S.C. 619, 594 S.E.2d 272 (2004), Jones v. Georgia-Pacific Corp., 355 S.C. 413, 586 S.E.2d 111 (2003).

The possibility of drawing two inconsistent conclusions from the evidence does not prevent an administrative agency's findings from being supported by substantial evidence. Sharpe v. Case Produce, Inc., 336 S.C. 154, 519 S.E.2d 102 (1999); DuRant v. South Carolina Dep't of Health and Envtl. Control, 361 S.C. 416, 604 S.E.2d 704 (Ct. App. 2004).

Under the scope of review established by the APA, this Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the appellate panel as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse where the decision is affected by an error of law. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund, 363 S.C. 612, 611 S.E.2d 297 (Ct. App. 2005); Frame v. Resort Servs. Inc., 357 S.C. 520, 593 S.E.2d 491 (Ct. App. 2004); S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(6)(d)(2005).

### **ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY:**

This Court first saw this case in 2016, on appeal of the 2016 Appellate Panel Decision and Order which deemed Adickes to be at MMI for all of his work-related injuries, determined that he

sustained a permanent loss of earning capacity pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20 and awarded a permanent wage loss award of 340-weeks of benefits. (R. pp. 29, 33-34).

On appeal, this Court issued an unpublished opinion, Op. No. 2018-UP-027, holding that the Appellate Panel decision was Affirmed in Part, Reversed in Part and Remanded. (R. pp. 35-39). Specifically, Op. No. 2018-UP-027 reversed the Appellate Panel’s wage loss award, holding that the plain language of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20 explicitly limits permanent wage loss awards to 340 weeks from the date of injury. (R. p. 38). This Court went on to explain that the legislature’s intent was for PPD benefits to compensate an injured Claimant for the loss of earning capacity over the designated 340 weeks from the date of injury, rather than compensate an injured Claimant with a 340-week “award” of PPD benefits for specific injuries. (*Id.*). This Court explicitly laid out the remand directives in the last sentence of the Opinion: “**Accordingly, we reverse the Appellate Panel’s award of 340 weeks’ compensation commencing January 17, 2014, and remand for a new calculation of benefits consistent with the plain language of section 42-9-20.**” (R. p. 39).

Yet, over 17 months after the case was remanded to the Commission, the Appellate Panel issued an Order not in compliance with the holding of Op. No. 2018-UP-027 or the remand directives. (R. pp. 59-64). Rather, the Appellate Panel held that this Court did not reverse the date that Adickes’ wage loss began, so it held that his permanent wage loss award commenced as of the date of his termination, January 17, 2014. (R. p. 63, Concl. of Law ¶¶ 1-2). Further, summarily dismissing Appellant’s argument that permanent awards commence as of the date of MMI, the Appellate Panel concluded that this Court did not reverse or remand on those grounds, so determining an MMI date was beyond the scope of the remand directives for the Appellate Panel. (*Id.* at Concl. of Law ¶¶ 3-5). Additionally, the Appellate Panel awarded Adickes a wage loss

award for a period extending beyond 340-weeks from his date of accident. (Id. at Concl. of Law ¶ 6, Order ¶¶ 3-4).

The fact that the Appellate Panel issued an Order in stark contrast to the explicit remand directives provided by this Court is just as confounding as the plain-language-of-the-statute question that brought this case before this Court in 2016. The holding in Op. No. 2018-UP-027 was clear. This Court explicitly reversed the PPD award of 340 weeks of permanent wage loss benefits commencing as of January 17, 2014. The remand directives in Op. No. 2018-UP-027 were clear. The Appellate Panel was to determine when his wage loss award commenced and perform a calculation of his permanent award based on same, limited to 340 weeks from his date of injury.

**A. THE COMMISSION ERRED IN ITS CALCULATION OF ADICKES' PERMANENT WAGE LOSS AWARD.**

**1. ADICKES SOUGHT A PERMANENT AWARD.**

Adickes has unequivocally sought permanent disability benefits throughout the pendency of this claim. In all of his initial pleadings, all of which are unamended or stricken, Adickes specifically indicated the type of disability benefits he was seeking: **permanent**. In the very first pleading filed in this case, Adickes' September 23, 2014 Form 50 Request for Hearing, in response to whether he was seeking Temporary Total Disability Benefits, Adickes responded: TTD has been paid. (R. p. 73). He left the box next to "A determination of permanency is premature at this time" unchecked. (Id.). Rather, he placed a check next to the box indicating that he was seeking a **permanency** disability of the following nature and extent: Wage Loss. (Id.). Similarly, in his January 6, 2015 Form 58 Pre-Hearing Brief, Adickes indicated that the legal issues involved were as follows: Extent of **Permanent** Wage Loss under 42-9-20; lump sum payment; Dodge medicals under § 42-15-60. (R. p. 76). Adickes made no request for temporary benefits. (Id.).

Following the McCaskill Order, Adickes maintained his request for **permanent** benefits to the Appellate Panel and this Court through the following arguments:

Claimant is entitled to **permanent** partial wage loss disability benefits for 340 weeks ... Here, the Claimant's **permanent** partial disability began after two separate periods of total disability ... A review of the relevant evidence and testimony supports Mr. Leonard's expert vocation opinion that Claimant suffered a **permanent** loss of earning capacity as a result of his work-related injury.

(R. pp. 141, 144-145).

Dr. Barron's **permanent** impairment rating to Barry's right shoulder is evidence that a **permanency** award is appropriate.

(R. p. 157).

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