RECEIVED

Aug 13 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr. Chair
T. Scott Beck, Commissioner
R. Michael Campbell, II, Commissioner

WCC File No. 1102937
Appellate Case No. 2019-001141

Barry Adickes, Claimant.....Respondent,

v.

Philips Healthcare, Employer,
and Fidelity & Guarantee
Insurance Company, Carrier. Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

William L. Smith, II # 5226
James D. George, Jr. # 103634
CHAPPELL SMITH & ARDEN
P.O. Box 12330
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 929-3600
(803) 929-3604 (facsimile)
bsmith@csa-law.com
Attorneys for Respondent

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

Correspondingly, the Court in remanding for a calculation of benefits, took no issue with and did not reverse the original finding that Respondent’s disability manifested itself on January 17, 2014. Instead, the Court simply found Respondent’s award must be reduced by the number of weeks he worked for Employer before his disability manifested itself. The original commissioner found correctly that Respondent’s wage loss began on January 17, 2014. That finding has not been overturned and is consequently the law of the case. *Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009) (citing 5 C.J.S. Appeal & Error § 991 (2007) (“Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court.”)).

No fact finder has found a date of MMI in this matter, for the date of MMI is irrelevant to benefits awarded under section 42-9-20. Appellants argue for a date of MMI. The Commission, however, correctly found that it was precluded from doing so concluding, “The affirmed order does not contain a date of maximum medical improvement and to find such a date would be determining an issue beyond the scope of the remand from the Court of Appeals.” (R. p. 63).

The only expectation on the Commission on remand was to solve a math problem, which it did. In his Order of August 27, 2015, Commissioner McCaskill found that Respondent’s wage loss

began on January 17, 2014, when he was terminated. The Appellate Panel affirmed. Despite the arguments of Appellants, the Court did not reverse this finding. Rather, the court said,

The record is clear Adickes did not suffer a wage loss until he was terminated from Employer. Under the Appellate Panel's interpretation, Adickes would receive PPD wage loss compensation for the period he worked full time and earned a full time salary. We hold the Appellate Panel erred by expanding the timeframe and award for PPD benefits in contravention of the plain language of section 42-9-20 and the legislative intent for compensation. Accordingly, we reverse the Appellate Panel's award of 340 weeks' compensation commencing January 17, 2014, and remand for a new calculation of benefits consistent with the plain language of section 42-9-20.

Adickes, Op. No. 2018-UP-027. Therefore, the Court affirmed that wage loss began on January 17, 2014. It only reversed the award to reduce the award by the number of weeks (147) that elapsed between the date of injury (March 22, 2011) and the date the wage loss began (January 17, 2014) which lessens the total award from 340 weeks to 193 weeks. The only instruction from the Court on remand is to make the award fit this holding.

The Court has stated “where a case that has been appealed is remanded by the court to the workers’ compensation commission with specific directions, the commission must proceed in accordance with those directions.” *Bobo v. Marshane Corp.*, 302 S.C. 86, 88, 394 S.E.2d 2, 4 (Ct. App. 1990) (citing 101 C.J.S. *Workmen’s Compensation* § 790 at 37 (1958)). Further, the court opined, “[i]n such a case, the order limits the authority of the commission.” *Id.* The supreme court has additionally held that an administrative body cannot consider additional evidence where the court had reversed a judgment and remanded the issues to the administrative body for a determination pursuant to specific instructions. *Parker v. S.C. Public Service Commission*, 288 S.C. 304, 342 S.E.2d 403 (1986); *See also In re Doherty*, 109 N.E. 887 (Mass. 1915) (where a remand order did not authorize the commission to expunge the old record and to make a new one, the commission lacked authority to make a new record).

Respondent's position here is simple, logical, and consistent with case law and the plain language of the statute. The Commission correctly awarded benefits from the date his wage loss began. His disability was permanent as of that date, and MMI has no relevance as to the awarding of wage loss benefits pursuant to section 42-9-20. Respondent is entitled to benefits as awarded by the Commission. He therefore respectfully asks this Court affirm the order of the Commission.

II. The Workers' Compensation Commission correctly extended Respondent's award by the number of weeks he was totally disabled.

The Commission correctly extended Respondent's award by the number of weeks Respondent received TTD benefits. This conclusion of the Commission is consistent with prior case law interpreting section 42-9-20, consistent with a plain reading of section 42-9-20, and consistent with the intent of the Court's 2018 opinion in this matter.

In *Bass*, the defendants also argued the Commission erred in not giving them a credit for TTD benefits paid. *Bass*, at 465, 622 S.E.2d at 585. There, the claimant was totally, but temporarily, disabled for a period of time prior to an award of partial wage loss. (R. p. 826). There, the Commission awarded 340 weeks of compensation following the period of total disability. *Id.* ("It is hereby ordered that the defendants shall pay John Bass, Jr. 340 weeks of compensation . . . without credit for temporary total disability benefits paid."). The employer claimed the Commission erred in finding and holding "that the claimant's partial disability began after a period of total disability and therefore . . . the amounts paid for temporary total disability shall not be deducted from the maximum of 340 weeks allowed." (R. p. 809). Specifically, Kenco sought credit for weeks of TTD paid after the claimant reached MMI. *Bass*, at 465, 622 S.E.2d at 585. However, even though Kenco only sought to reduce the award by the weeks it overpaid TTD, the Court held, "Bass was paid temporary total benefits only for the uncontested period of his

physical disability. Accordingly, the commissioner correctly applied section 42-9-20 and declined to give Kenco a credit of temporary benefits paid.” *Id.*

In *Bass*, similar to the case at bar, the claimant suffered a mental or cognitive injury and physical injuries. *Id.* at 466, 622 S.E.2d 585. The claimant’s mental injuries were the proximate cause of his loss in earning capacity, while his physical injuries were the direct cause of his temporary total disability. *Id.* The Court stated “[t]he period of total disability of the [physical injury] [was] separate and distinct from the subsequent period of permanent partial general disability stemming from the physiological issues.” *Id.* Consequently, the Court affirmed the Commission’s award of 340 weeks without reduction for TTD paid.

Here, the period that Respondent argues should not be deducted from the maximum period allowed is the period during which he received temporary total disability benefits for his physical injuries. The facts are thus parallel to those in *Bass*. Respondent Adickes’ brain injury with loss of executive function was the primary cause of his wage loss, while his neck and shoulder injuries and treatment of those injuries were the cause of his temporary total disability. The periods are separate and distinct, and the Commission correctly declined to give Appellants credit for the temporary total benefits paid.

Likewise, a plain reading of section 42-9-20 supports the position taken by the Commission. The final sentence of that section states, “In case the partial disability begins after a period of total disability, the [period of total disability] shall not be deducted from the maximum period allowed in this section for partial disability.” S.C. Code. Ann. 42-9-20. The “maximum period” described being 340 weeks post-accident. That sentence is not redundant or superfluous. *See* 82 C.J.S. Statutes § 433 (2012) (“Courts are loath to read statutes in a manner that would

render parts of them entirely superfluous, meaningless, or inoperative.”). Instead, it provides an exception to the maximum period allowable stated in the previous sentence.

According to the position argued by Appellants, the final sentence operates to prevent a claimant from having two weeks reduced from his award for every one week he was totally disabled.² This is an incongruous result and would not be the default position if the final sentence were to be excluded from the statute. To wit, previous versions of the code specifically mandated such a result. *See e.g.* S.C. Code Ann. § 72-152 (1962). The removal of such provision thus disallows that procedure, and the addition of the final sentence as it reads currently, allows partial wage loss benefits to extend beyond 340 weeks by the number of weeks the claimant was totally disabled.

Further, this position is consistent with the prior 2018 Opinion of the Court in his matter. At that time, the Court addressed the larger question of whether claimants who suffer wage loss are entitled to a 340-week award or an award over the course of 340 weeks from the date of injury. The Court stated the latter was correct and most in line with the legislature’s intent. What the Court did not address was the final sentence of section 42-9-20, which provides an exception to the court’s holding that claimants receive benefits over the course of 340 weeks from the date of injury. Extending the award beyond 340 weeks for weeks paid in TTD is consistent with both the opinion of the Court and the plain language of the statute.

Respondent is entitled to further wage loss benefits for the number of weeks he was totally disabled. Prior case law and section 42-9-20 support the position taken by the Commission, and its Decision and Order should be affirmed.

² Under this position, if the final sentence of 42-9-20 was excluded, a claimant who receives 170 weeks of TTD would not be entitled to any week of partial wage loss benefits, for the employer would get a credit for the remaining 170 weeks.

III. The Commissioner Correctly Imposed Sanctions on the Appellant.

The Commission correctly imposed fines and penalties on the Appellant for its termination of weekly benefits and its failure to provide medications as prescribed by the authorized treating physician and ordered by the Commission. S.C. Code Ann. section 42-9-90 plainly states that when compensation from an award of the Commission is not paid within fourteen days, the unpaid amount shall be increased by ten percent. Likewise, the code at section 42-3-175 gives the Commission the authority to impose sanctions for willful disobedience of an order, including a refusal to authorize medical treatment, of a fine of five hundred dollars for each day of violation. The Commission chose to impose both penalties in this case, and its decision should be upheld.

Respondents asked this Court and the Commission for permission to stop paying benefits. This Court deferred to the Commission and the Commission declined their request. The Commission awarded wage loss benefits in 2016. Respondents appealed that Order but were obligated to continue making payments pursuant to section 42-17-60.

In case of an appeal from the decision of the commission on questions of law, the appeal does not operate as a supersedeas and, after that time the employer is required to make weekly payments of compensation and to provide medical treatment ordered by the commission involved in the appeal or certification until the questions at issue have been fully determined in accordance with provisions of this title. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-60.

Respondents initially made payments as required but later stopped despite being told by the Commission that they were not permitted to stop payment. Section 42-17-60 makes clear the employer is required to make weekly payments of compensation until the questions at issue have been fully determined. Here, Defendants were ordered to make payment of 340 weeks of wage loss benefits. This Court affirmed the wage loss and remanded the issue for a new calculation of benefits consistent with the plain language of section 42-9-20. The remand did not completely resolve the questions at issue and section 42-17-60 requires continued payments until the

questions at issue have been fully determined. Since questions at issue were not fully resolved, the Appellants could not lawfully terminate weekly payments.

Making the stop payment here especially egregious, however, is that the Appellants did not stop making weekly payments as soon as this Court ruled, in reliance on their understanding of what this Court's order meant, they waited until the Commission had ruled they were responsible for additional weekly benefits. Commissioner Barden heard this case on remand, and determined the amount owed. That ruling could have finally determined the issues, but Appellants' again appealed that order. Thus, the issues were still not fully determined. The legislature intended that the weekly payments entered into an award are to be made until the questions are fully determined on appeal. *Bagwell v. Ernest Burwell, Inc.*, 227 S.C. 165, 4 S.E.2d 7 (1955).

Moreover, Appellants requested permission to stop payment twice, once of this Court and once of the Commission. This Court issued an order on May 11, 2018, declining to address the petition and finding the motion was more appropriate for the Workers' Compensation Commission since the matter had been remanded. Appellants then petitioned the Commission for permission to stop payment. That motion was summarily denied by Commissioner Barden. Despite having asked permission to stop payment and being denied, the Appellants still stopped payment.

In support of their position, Appellants rely upon *Case v. Hermitage Mills*, 236 S.C. 515, 115 S.E.2d 57 (1960) for the proposition that they are no longer under order to continue payment of benefits after the Court of Appeals decision and while the case is on remand. However, the holding from *Case* does not support their position. The *Case* court actually held "the express provision in [the predecessor to 42-17-60] that after the expiration of 30 days following his appeal from the Commission's award the employer shall be required to make payment until the questions at issue shall have been fully determined seems clearly to mean that there shall be no supersedeas

of the Commission's award, or of a circuit court judgment affirming it." *Case*, at 532, 115 S.E.2d 67. *Case*, therefore, was an extension of the limitation of supersedeas, as to weekly benefits, to aid in the goal of workers' compensation of preventing a person from becoming a charge on society. Appellants were under no obligation to make full payment of the award, but they were required to make weekly payments until final determination.

Appellants also cite to *McLeod v. Piggly Wiggly Carolina Co.*, 280 S.C. 466, 313 S.E.2d 38 (1984) for the proposition that they were somehow relieved of responsibility to continue payments during their continued appeal. However, the *McLeod* court stated,

Finally, regarding the issue of whether the employers appeal of the Circuit Court order to the Supreme Court operated to stay the payment of permanent partial disability awarded by the Commission, we conclude that *Case v. Hermitage Cotton Mills*, supra, and Section 42-9-20 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina (1976) control the result which we must reach. We hold that an appeal does not suspend payment of weekly benefits awarded pursuant to Section 42-9-20. Cf. *Walsh v. US Rubber Co.*, 238 S.C. 422, 120 S.E.2d 685 (1961). These payments, like temporary total disability payments, are in the nature of support.

McLeod, at 472, 313 S.E.2d at 41. Here, as in *McLeod*, benefits were awarded pursuant to section 42-9-20 and the appeal does not suspend those benefits. The weekly benefits must continue until the questions at issue have been fully determined.

Appellants were compelled by statute, case law, and most importantly, orders of the Commission, to continue weekly payments. The failure to do so subjected the Appellants to penalties. The Commission chose to impose penalties, and its decision should be upheld.

In addition to Appellants' conscious acts in direct contravention of the order of the Commission regarding the continuance of weekly benefits, Appellants also began denying medications that were ordered by Respondent's authorized treating physician. Appellants were placed under order to provide medications as prescribed by Dr. Howard Mandell. Appellants never appealed that portion of the order and, as such, it became the law of the case. In July of 2018,

Appellants began denying Respondent's prescribed medication. Those refusals encompassed the periods of July 9 through July 12, August 31 through September 6, September 17 through September 25, and most egregiously, October 16 through November 12, 2018. Medications were denied for a total of forty-four days over a four-month period.

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